

Detection of dsrAB operon expression in *Desulfotalea psychrophila* cells subjected to simulated Martian conditions of temperature and regolith's sulphate minerals composition

Sergio Mosquera^{1,2,3} , Mack Ivey^{1,2,3} and Vincent F. Chevrier^{1,2}

¹University of Arkansas, Fayetteville, AR, USA

²Arkansas Center for Space and Planetary Sciences (SPAC), Fayetteville, AR, USA

³Department of Biological Sciences (BISC), Fayetteville, AR, USA

Corresponding author: Sergio Mosquera; Email: slmosque@uark.edu or sergiomosqueramora@gmail.com

Received: 29 January 2023; Revised: 02 July 2023; Accepted: 05 August 2023; First published online: 7 September 2023

Keywords: Bacteria, chaotropic, desulfotalea, dsrAB, dissimilatory sulphite reductase, extremophiles, mars, psychrophiles, sulphate reducing prokaryotes, sulphate reduction

Abstract

Discoveries of transient liquid water in the Martian polar caps and the presence of liquid lakes and subsurface oceans in icy satellites have increased the interest of scientists in the capabilities of terrestrial extremophiles to grow and remain metabolically active in these extreme environments. The principal goal of this research is to understand the metabolic capacity of the anaerobic psychrophile, Desulfotalea psychrophila, cultured at subfreezing temperatures in media containing various concentrations of sulphate minerals. In this regard, our experiments focused on the detection of D. psychrophila survival and active metabolism, employing a biochamber that can recreate Martian temperatures. Using standard bacteriological methods for determining growth, combined with molecular and enzymatic determination of sulphate reduction, we have found that D. psychrophila is capable to carry out biological processes at temperatures down to -5° C, at concentrations that range from 0.35 to 18 wt% of MgSO₄, 0.1 wt% of CaSO₄ and 10 to 14 wt% of FeSO₄ in which the highest sulphate concentration gradually returned the biosynthetic rate to basal limits, and the lowest temperature decreased bacterial cell division. These chemical salts, whose ions are classified as chaotropes, are known to act by maintaining water molecules in liquid state at subfreezing temperatures and by altering the stability of cellular components. This 'chaotropic effect' could potentially benefit the microbial metabolic activity up to a concentration in which cellular viability is jeopardized. Consequently, our hypothesis is directed towards the detection of metabolic activity as an indirect measurement of the potential influence of these ions in the flexibility/functionality of biological structures that at cold temperatures are highly rigid, compact and partially/non-functional due to water freezing. Studies of this type of microorganism are critical considering the possibility of survival and colonization of psychrophilic sulphate reducers in other planets and icy satellites.

Contents

Introduction	642
Materials and methods	644
Culture conditions	644
Cultures growth	647
Molecular analysis (DNA and RNA extractions)	647
Methylene blue (MB) analysis	648
Results	649
D. psychrophila growth under various sulphate salts	649

© The Author(s), 2023. Published by Cambridge University Press. This is an Open Access article, distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted re-use, distribution and reproduction, provided the original article is properly cited.

Molecular analysis.	649
Sulphate reduction (enzymatic activity)	651
Discussion	651
D. psychrophila dsrAB copy numbers detection at low temperatures as a model of sulphate	
brines colonizer	651
Comparison of dsrAB transcripts and sulphate reduction under various sulphate conditions.	656
Conclusions	658

Introduction

The Martian surface and its subsurface are composed mostly of CO_2 and water ice (Chinnery *et al.*, 2019). However, the presence of hydrated sulphate deposits in locations such as Terra Meridiani, Valles Marineris, the Northern polar cap, Aram Chaos and Juventae Chasma could induce the formation of thin aqueous films of liquid water within the regolith structure (Arvidson *et al.*, 2005; Bibring, 2005; Gendrin *et al.*, 2005; Langevin *et al.*, 2005). Moreover, estimations of the chemical species present in the Martian surface have pointed to the existence of enough Fe, Mg and Ca cations which could easily combine with sulphates (Clark and Van Hart, 1980). Interestingly, McGlynn *et al.* (2012) have estimated that these chemical species could occur in Gusev Crater at concentrations around 5.4 wt%, while in Meridiani Planum, it has been predicted to be at around 5.5 wt%. According to these researchers, MgSO₄ and CaSO₄ could constitute around 10% of the soil present in Gusev Crater (McGlynn *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, the hypothesis that bacterial life can persist in Martian extreme environments is feasible, at least temporarily in subsurface areas where salty water films, and protection from radiation and extremes of temperatures are provided (Bibring, 2005; Des Marais *et al.*, 2008; Lamarche-Gagnon *et al.*, 2015).

In general, sulphates species such as MgSO₄ and CaSO₄ have been estimated to form part of the subsurface oceans of icy satellites of the Jovian system (McCord *et al.*, 2001; Zolotov and Shock, 2001; Pappalardo, 2010; Prockter *et al.*, 2010; Lamarche-Gagnon *et al.*, 2015; Schmidt and Manning, 2017; Vance *et al.*, 2018). Furthermore, based on observational studies, Europa's ocean could produce hydrated sulphates of Mg and Ca by means of upwelling in fractures of the icy shell (Fanale *et al.*, 2000; McCord *et al.*, 2001; Zolotov and Shock, 2001; Molyneux *et al.*, 2020). Likewise, in Ganymede's surface, remnants of MgSO₄ and NaSO₄ brines have been identified (McCord *et al.*, 2001; Molyneux *et al.*, 2020; Pan *et al.*, 2021). Moreover, there is evidence that sulphates could be present in other icy moons of the Saturn system. For example, water pockets located at the lower part of Titan's ice crust as well as cracks of the icy crust have been pointed as suitable environments for microorganisms' colonization (Simakov, 2001).

Extremophile microbes are thought to be the first organisms to colonize Earth and are ultimately responsible for the formation of all ecosystems present in today's World (Pikuta *et al.*, 2007). This phenomenon was accompanied by deep modifications of genetic information that allowed these microbes to adapt to constantly challenging environments. Consequently, our planet ended up acquiring radio-resistant, halophilic, barophilic, acidophilic, alkaliphilic, thermophilic and psychrophilic genetic compositions (Pikuta *et al.*, 2007). According to the chronological distribution of these extremophiles on Earth, microorganisms adapted to hot and acidic environments were present in the early stages of its evolution while psychrophilic microbes appeared later due to a temperature drop on the planet's surface (Pikuta *et al.*, 2007). In fact, present extremophiles can be considered relics from the original microorganisms that inhabited these extreme environments (Pikuta *et al.*, 2007).

In the past, it has been stated that little is known about psychrophilic microbes and their adaptations to cold environments (Inniss, 1975; Deming, 2002; Panikov *et al.*, 2006; Poli *et al.*, 2017). Initially, all bacterial studies, regardless of their habitat, were based on the 16S rRNA gene taxonomical clustering which allowed the accurate identification and classification of microbial communities. However, studies of bacterial strains that inhabited cold environments were partially neglected. Nowadays, this line of

thought has changed due to the implications of global warming and the loss of autochthonous microbial communities from these environments (Deming, 2002).

As expected, a proper definition of psychrophiles was needed to classify microorganisms based on their optimal, minimum and maximal growth temperatures. There were a myriad of misleading definitions that somehow impaired the scientific interest to research true psychrophiles (Hoover and Pikuta, 2010; Moyer and Morita, 2007). Moreover, the term psychrophile was mentioned for the first time by Schmidt-Nielsen while working with microbes that could grow at 0°C (Morita, 1975; Pikuta *et al.*, 2007). It was not until 1975 when Morita (1975) described them as organisms that have an optimal growth temperature at or lower than 15°C, a maximal growth temperature at 20°C and a minimal growth temperature at or below 0°C (Inniss, 1975; Morita, 1975; Feller and Gerday, 2003; Hoover and Pikuta, 2010; Moyer and Morita, 2007; Poli *et al.*, 2017). As a result of this definition, psychrophilic bacteria can survive and grow in environments which are permanently frozen and at sub-zero temperatures (Steven *et al.*, 2006; Piette *et al.*, 2011).

Psychrophiles are represented in both Bacteria and Archaea Domains. They can be Gram-positive or Gram-negative, aerobic or anaerobic, heterotrophic or autotrophic (Maccario *et al.*, 2014; Poli *et al.*, 2017). However, the majority of today's isolates belong to the Gram-negative groups Proteobacteria and Bacteriodetes (Moyer and Morita, 2007). Furthermore, most of them are adapted to more than one environmental stressor. In fact, most psychrophiles have been isolated from marine ecosystems that besides low temperature have high salt concentrations or high pressures (Feller and Gerday, 2003; Moyer and Morita, 2007).

The lowest temperature registered in which bacteria can metabolize is -20° C (Inniss, 1975; Deming, 2002; Panikov et al., 2006; Pikuta et al., 2007; Moyer and Morita, 2007). Congruently, Lamarche-Gagnon et al. (2015) have detected sulphate reduction in in-situ Arctic sediments at this same temperature (Lamarche-Gagnon et al., 2015). On the other hand, Mykytczuk et al. (2013) have pointed out that there are no reports of bacterial growth below -15° C (Mykytczuk et al., 2013), although survival have been reported down to -30° C (*in situ*) and microbial metabolisms have been predicted to occur at temperatures down to -40° C (Pikuta and Hoover, 2003; Price and Sowers, 2004; Moyer and Morita, 2007). Interestingly, under those extreme conditions psychrophilic microbes have developed adaptations that allow them to survive and proliferate. Among them, the most important are induced dormancy (Hoover and Pikuta, 2010), increased unsaturated, short, branched and cyclic fatty acids at the cell membrane level (Inniss, 1975; Feller and Gerday, 2003; Satyanarayana et al., 2005; Piette et al., 2011; Moyer and Morita, 2007; Poli et al., 2017), synthesis of cold shock proteins and cold-acclimation proteins (Deming, 2002; Feller and Gerday, 2003; Pikuta and Hoover, 2003; Satyanarayana et al., 2005; Hoover and Pikuta, 2010; Piette et al., 2011; Maccario et al., 2014; Poli et al., 2017), selective gene expression of cold active enzymes (Deming, 2002; Feller and Gerday, 2003; Satyanarayana et al., 2005; Piette et al., 2011), induction of efficient mechanisms for protein synthesis and protein folding (Feller and Gerday, 2003; Piette et al., 2011), synthesis of antifreeze proteins and cryoprotectants (Deming, 2002; Feller and Gerday, 2003; Pikuta and Hoover, 2003; Satyanarayana et al., 2005; Hoover and Pikuta, 2010; Moyer and Morita, 2007; Poli et al., 2017).

Importantly, psychrophiles can be classified in three different groups according to their metabolic rates: the first one in which the metabolic rate is enough for microbial growth, the second group in which the metabolic rate is exclusive for maintenance and no growth and the last group in which the metabolic rate is exclusive for survival and DNA damage repair mechanisms (Price and Sowers, 2004; Steven *et al.*, 2006; Moyer and Morita, 2007).

Additionally, some psychrophilic microbes are assembled within a subdivision of microorganisms known as sulphate reducing prokaryotes (SRP). SRP are a group of microorganisms that are able to subsist and proliferate in different ecosystems such as marine and extreme environments (Teske *et al.*, 1996; Karr *et al.*, 2005; Kjeldsen *et al.*, 2007; Leloup *et al.*, 2007; Miletto *et al.*, 2011). They can use sulphate anions as terminal electron acceptors in the generation of metabolic energy. In this process, they use an enzyme known as the dissimilatory sulphite reductase (DsrAB) which is

encoded in the dsrAB operon and intervenes in the last step of sulphate reduction. Furthermore, the dsrAB operon encodes the genes for two other enzymes that are involved in the sulphate reduction process, ATP sulfurylase and adenylyl-sulphate reductase (Karkhoff-Schweizer et al., 1995; Laue et al., 2001; Muller et al., 2015; Thorup et al., 2017; Rüffel et al., 2018). Among this group of bacteria, the Proteobacterium D. psychrophila is one of its members that possesses a psychrophilic nature (Rabus et al., 2004; Yadav et al., 2017). Its optimal growth temperature is 10°C and it can grow at temperatures down to -1.8° C (Knoblauch et al., 1999; Rabus et al., 2004). However, as measurements of bacterial growth are dependent on cellular division, no information about the survivability and metabolic activity of this microbe has been described at lower temperatures (or extremes). Simply, because most studies have focused on the quantification of growth by means of the detection of bacterial biomass which only accounts for bacterial strains that are actively dividing within a set of cultural/environmental parameters. Unfortunately, this approach only allows for bacterial quantification, it does not take into consideration bacterial strains whose metabolic energy is used exclusively for maintenance, survival and DNA repair mechanisms instead of growth. Therefore, our study aims to detect the survivability and metabolic activity of this microbe at different temperatures down to -5° C and in the presence of different types and concentrations of sulphate salts using molecular approaches as a proxy to estimate the survival of psychrophilic sulphate reducers in sulphates-rich planets like Mars and icy satellites such as Europa, Ganymede and possibly other satellites from the Jovian and Saturn systems. This type of research is crucial to understand the implications of the presence of these chemical species in these planetary systems and satellites, as it could potentially elucidate whether microbial life and habitability are possible elsewhere in the Universe (Cockell et al., 2016). Furthermore, we are interested to understand the molecular mechanisms involved in the macromolecular flexibility of D. psychrophila at suboptimal growth temperatures and in the presence of known chaotropic ions such as Mg^{2+} , Ca^{2+} , Fe^{2+} and Fe^{3+} . These chemical species, which are known to affect the water activity in cold environments, could potentially trigger the formation of aqueous films at the surface or subsurface of Mars and icy satellites. The latter combined with the occurrence of other conditions conducting of life (organics, absence of UV irradiation) provides a platform to consider the existence of microbial life in these environments (Moores and Schuerger, 2012; Cockell et al., 2016).

Materials and methods

Culture conditions

Active cultures of D. psychrophila (DSM 12343) were obtained from the Deutsche Sammlung von Mikroorganismen und Zellkulturen (DSMZ) collection. Furthermore, the medium designated as DSMZ141 was selected to replicate this bacterium since our analyses indicated higher levels of bacterial growth when compared to cultures grown in medium 861a under optimal conditions of temperature and sulphate salts concentrations. Moreover, DSMZ141 maintained its original composition when supplemented with different sulphates as no undesired compounds or secondary reactions were detected in simulations performed with the Geochemist Workbench Professional software release 12 (Bethke et al., 2018). Importantly, DSMZ141 contains a plethora of carbon sources (nutrients and vitamins) which are unlikely to be present in the Martian regolith. However, this medium was used to cultivate our D. psychrophila cells since the principal objective of this research is to detect metabolic activity (dependent variable) under a pre-determined set of temperatures and sulphate compounds (our independent variables). Consequently, we excluded the effects of organic materials from our analyses. Despite this, it is important to recognize that planets and icy satellites are constantly bombarded by meteorites containing carbon sources which facilitates the development of complex chemistries (i.e.: tholins, aliphatic and aromatic compounds). Furthermore, recent data from Perseverance and its SHERLOC instrument has detected the presence of organics associated with sulphate salts (Scheller et al., 2022; Ansari, 2023). However, a definite answer about the presence or absence of organic compounds at the Martian surface or subsurface is still elusive. An enquiry that becomes even more challenging as in-situ

Component	Quantity	Sulphate compound concentration	
KCl	0.34 g	1:MgSO ₄ 0.35 wt %	MgSO ₄ 0.35 wt % C-
MgCl ₂ . 6H ₂ O	4 g	2 :CaSO ₄ 0.1 wt %	CaSO ₄ 0.1 wt % C-
NH ₄ Cl	0.25 g	3 :MgSO ₄ 10 wt %	MgSO ₄ 10 wt % C-
CaCl ₂ . 2H ₂ O	0.14 g	4 :MgSO ₄ 18 wt %	MgSO ₄ 18 wt % C-
K ₂ HPO ₄	0.14 g	5 :FeSO ₄ 10 wt %	FeSO ₄ 10 wt % C-
NaCL	18 g	6 :FeSO ₄ 14 wt %	FeSO ₄ 14 wt % C-
Trace elements solution ^a	10 ml	7:Fe ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ 10 wt %	Fe ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ 10 wt % C-
$Fe(NH_4)_2(SO_4)_2 \times 6H_2O$	2.0 ml	8:Fe ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ 20 wt %	Fe ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ 20 wt % C-
sltn (0.1% w/v)		9 :Fe ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ 30 wt %	Fe ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ 30 wt % C-
Na-acetate ^b	1 g	10:Fe ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ 40 wt %	Fe ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ 40 wt % C-
Yeast Extract ^b	2 g	11:Fe ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ 48 wt %	Fe ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ 48 wt % C-
Trypticase peptone ^b	2 g		
Na-resazurin sltn (0.1% w/v)	0.50 ml		
NaHCO ₃	5 g		
Vit Soltn ^c	10 ml		
Sodium Dithionite ^c	20 mg		
Distilled water	11		

Table 1. Modified DSMZ141 culture medium (Adopted from DSMZ culture collection) and sulphate concentrations used for temperature positive control (10°C), experiments at -5, 0°C and growth negative controls (sulphate compounds are numbered)

C- denotes growth negative controls.

All ingredients were sparged with 80% H₂ and 20% CO₂ gas mixture, except for bicarbonate, vitamins and sodium dithionite which were sparged with N₂ gas. All cultures were kept under 80% H₂ and 20% CO₂ gas mixture during incubation.

^aFollow instructions from DSMZ141 standard preparation.

^bThis medium contains high concentrations of carbon sources. We have decided to include them in virtue of the fact that many planets and icy satellites are constantly bombarded by meteorites containing complex carbon sources from interstellar space. Also, many icy bodies possess a complex chemistry that produces complex carbon sources such as tholins and other aliphatic and aromatic carbon sources (Titan for example). We have decided to eliminate this confounding variable from our analysis by providing all our cultures with a plethora of carbon sources. ^cTaken from DSMZ195c.

experiments have failed to determine the exact abundance of organics present in the Martian regolith, sample return missions are still in process, and the existence of carbon sources depends on factors such as resistance to UV decomposition, accretion rate (if any) and rate of UV decomposition (Pizzarello, 2006; Moores and Schuerger, 2012; Pavlov *et al.*, 2014; Poch *et al.*, 2014; Stalport *et al.*, 2019).

DSMZ's instructions on how to inoculate and cultivate this microorganism under anaerobic conditions were followed. After obtaining fresh cultures of *D. psychrophila* incubated at 10°C, 25 ml serum bottles containing 15 ml of a modified version of DSMZ141 (Na₂S was replaced with sodium dithionite at a concentration of 20 mg l⁻¹) were inoculated at a concentration of 1.5×10^8 cells and incubated at 10°C for 30 days. As *D. psychrophila* duplication time is 27 h (Knoblauch *et al.*, 1999), we estimated a concentration of 10^{16} bacterial cells at the end of the 30 days period. These starter cultures were used to inoculate a temperature positive control at 10°C and two different experiments at 0 and -5° C at a concentration of 1.5×10^8 cells in triplicate (MgSO₄, was replaced by different sulphate compounds at increasing concentrations, see Table 1).

Simultaneously, growth negative controls (non-inoculated serum bottles containing media) were prepared for all sulphate concentrations at the three temperatures of incubation (making 66 cultures per temperature, 198 cultures total, see Table 1). After inoculation, all cultures were transported on ice and incubated at their respective temperatures for 30 days. Experiments at 0 and -5° C were performed in a biochamber known as Pegasus located at the Keck Lab of the University of Arkansas (Fig. 1), specifics for which have been described in Kral *et al.* (2011). Briefly, Pegasus is a stainless-steel vacuum chamber with dimensions of 76 cm × 51 cm shaped as a horizontal cylinder with three



Figure 1. Pegasus biochamber at the Keck Lab of the University of Arkansas. (a) Biochamber possesses a chiller connected to a (b) cooling plate which is positioned inside of the chamber for (c) cold experiments. The plate is connected to a Lauda Chiller. The Pegasus biochamber was used to incubate temperature positive controls, the experiments at 0 and -5° C and the growth negative controls. Batches of cultures were placed on top of the plate for 30 days. The biochamber was oxygen-evacuated, sealed and CO₂ was bled into the interior to avoid oxygen contamination. A palladium catalyst box was used to eliminate oxygen (if present).

viewing units (two on the top, and one on the front door). It has a low-pressure component which allows the operator to lower the pressure down to 10^{-7} mbar, it carries all the components required to replace the atmosphere for the desired gases mixtures, and it has an oxygen-scrubbing catalyst box (Kral *et al.*, 2011).

In addition to the previous descriptions, a refrigeration component was incorporated by means of a Lauda SmartCool System that uses a heat transfer liquid (silicone oil-based) known as kyro 90 (which supports temperatures down to -90° C). Moreover, the inoculated samples were placed in the interior of the biochamber on top of a metallic hollow plate (platform) which was filled with Kyro 90. The latter was constantly recirculated from the cooling system to the platform using a series of insulated hoses that allowed us to keep the refrigeration in an enclosed system. Furthermore, in all experiments, bacterial growth was assessed by direct observation and comparison with the temperature positive controls and the growth negative controls (non-inoculated cultures). Samples were classified as positive if there was a white precipitate (biomass) formed at the bottom of the serum bottles. Equally important, direct evidence of sulphate reduction was recognized only if this white precipitate turned blackish (deposition/sedimentation of sulphites and sulphides) (Rüffel *et al.*, 2018).

Cultures growth

Cultures supplemented with MgSO₄ and CaSO₄ were evaluated for growth by means of optical density (OD or turbidity) at 600 nm using a Perkin Elmer UV/VIS spectrometer Lambda Bio 20. Aliquots of 1 ml sterile medium (specific for different cultures supplemented with different sulphate concentrations) were used to adjust the equipment. Promptly after, measurements of 1 ml of each sample were performed in triplicate: four cultures and four negative controls at three different temperatures in triplicate make up a total of 72 cultures. Furthermore, 216 measurements were taken by collecting three measurements per bottle. The optical density data generated was analysed by means of pairwise *t*-test at a confidence level of 95% ($\alpha = 0.05$).

As $FeSO_4$ and $Fe_2(SO_4)_3$ samples contained sediments that interfered with proper OD measurements, we assessed the growth of these samples by means of fluorescence using a fluorescence spectrophotometer Hitachi F-7000. Furthermore, we performed a live/dead cells evaluation using the live/ dead BacLight kit from Invitrogen. This kit allows for differential staining of live cells (SYTO 9, greenfluorescent nucleic acid stain) and dead cells (propidium iodide, red-fluorescent nucleic acid stain). Moreover, this method takes advantage of the fact that SYTO 9 labels all bacterial cells (with intact or damaged membranes) while propidium iodide only labels cells with damaged membranes. All samples as well as growth negative controls at 10, 0 and -5° C were assessed in triplicate (594 measurements total). After collecting 1 ml of culture in 1.5 ml tubes under anoxic conditions, we centrifuged the samples to aggregate all cells at the bottom of the tube. Subsequently, we washed the cells three times with 1 ml of sterile/anoxic 0.85% NaCl solution. After washing the cells pellet, we resuspended them in 1 ml of sterile/anoxic 0.85% NaCl solution. Immediately after, we mixed the cells suspensions with the fluorescence mix (composed of 3 µl of component A, 3 µl of component B, and 1 ml of sterile/ anoxic 0.85% NaCl solution per sample). The equipment was blanked using a preparation containing 1 ml of sterile/anoxic 0.85% NaCl solution (instead of cells suspensions) and 1ml of fluorescence mixture. Results were normalized using fluorescence detected in growth negative controls specific for each supplementation. Data generated was analysed by means of pairwise t-test at a confidence level of 95% $(\alpha = 0.05).$

Molecular analysis (DNA and RNA extractions)

Bacterial Genomic DNA from starter cultures was extracted using the MOBIO Microbial DNA Isolation kit. This extraction was performed using proteinase K (20 mg ml^{-1}) and RNase A ($10 \mu \text{g} \text{ ml}^{-1}$) incubations steps. Furthermore, DNA concentration and purity were assessed by means of a NanoDrop 2000 Spectrophotometer (ThermoScientific). Once the A260/A280 ratio was 1.8 or

above, amplifications of the dsrAB operon (2.5 kb) were performed using the universal primers, DSR1FD 5' – ACTCACTGGAAGCACG-3' and DSR4RE 5' – GTGTAACAGTTACCACA-3'. The PCR protocol used was Activation 95°C for 5 min, Denaturation 95°C for 1 min, Annealing 54°C for 1 min, Extension 72°C for 9 min and Final extension 72°C for 10 min, with 30 cycles. Then, an agarose electrophoresis was used to identify the dsrAB amplicon under UV light. Growth negative controls and temperature positive controls as well as positive PCR amplifications were used to assess the purity of the cultures selected for RNA isolation (control at 10°C and experiments at 0 and -5° C).

On the other hand, the dsrAB operon was sequenced using purified PCR products, and the resulting sequence was utilized to design qPCR-MCA (real time polymerase chain reaction-melt curve analysis) primers. Specifically, dsrAB fragments were sequenced by the UAMS DNA sequencing core facility using a 3500xL genetic analyser (Sanger sequencing technology), our purified PCR products as templates $(20-50 \text{ ng }\mu\text{l}^{-1})$, and the primers pair DSR1FD/DSR4RE at a 1.6 μ M concentration. In addition, dsrAB sequenced fragments were analysed, trimmed, edited, and assembled with Geneious while the qPCR-MCA primers were designed with the IDT software (ThermoFisher). These primers named D.psychroFwd100 (5'-ATCGGTAGCAGGAGTATGACA-3') and D.psychroRev100 (5'-AAGCCGTGGCAACAAGT-3') were tested for specificity by amplification of *D. psychrophila* genomic DNA and agarose gel electrophoresis of the PCR products.

RNA was extracted from all replicas (198 samples) of the temperature positive control, the experimental cultures, and the growth negative controls using TRIZOL (Invitrogen). Furthermore, purifications/gDNA digestion were performed using the QIAGEN kit (RNeasy Mini Kit). RNA concentrations were measured using a NanoDrop 2000 Spectrophotometer (ThermoScientific). Samples were kept frozen at -20° C until downstream analyses were performed. cDNAs of samples were synthesized using the High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription kit of Applied Biosystems (AB) which uses random primers to target RNAs. cDNA synthesis was performed using 1 µg of RNA from each individual sample as a template.

Given the fact that most molecular techniques applied to cold environments have been used only for diversity studies (Poli et al., 2017), we decided to use qPCR-MCA as a direct method to quantify dsrAB expression. Furthermore, this technique was performed using the primers D.psychroFwd100 and D.psychroRev100 and EvaGreen Dye (Biotium). Temperature positive controls, experimental samples and growth negative controls cDNAs were seeded in 96 well plates for qPCR-MCA in triplicate (594 measurements total). Once plates were seeded with primers, dye and cDNA template, they were subjected to the Melt Curve protocol: 90.0°C for 0:30 s, 90.0°C for 0:15 s, 59.0°C for 0:15 s, 72.0°C for 1 min, 10 cycles; 90.0°C for 0:15 s, 59.0°C for 1 min, 72.0°C for 0:30 s and Plate read (Fluorophore SYBR), 35 cycles; 72.0°C for 3 min, 90.0°C for 0:15 s, 65.0°C for 3 min and Melting curve with the next parameters: 75.0 to 90.0°C with an increment of 0.1°C every 0:05 s and a Plate read (Fluorophore SYBR) at the end of every temperature increment. The real time PCR system used was BIO-RAD CFX96 Real Time System. Standard curves were used to estimate copy numbers per reaction. They were formulated by including co-amplifications of known amounts of D. psychrophila DNA in qPCR analyses. Five consecutive dilutions (1:5) were prepared containing 10^9 to 10^6 copies of the dsrAB operon per reaction. Amounts of the targeted dsrAB sequence were obtained by plotting the Ct values onto the standard curve. Finally, differences in expression were analysed by means of an ANOVA and pairwise-*t*-test analysis at a confidence level of 95% ($\alpha = 0.05$).

Methylene blue (MB) analysis

In order to detect sulphides in solution and consequently sulphate reduction, MB analysis of the temperature positive control, all sample replicas and growth negative controls was performed using the MB protocol used by Basic *et al.* (2015) in triplicate (594 measurements) (Cline, 1969; Johnston *et al.*, 2005; Basic *et al.*, 2015; Thorup *et al.*, 2017). By using this protocol, we aimed to detect the presence of dissolved sulphides-sulphur (H₂S, HS⁻, S⁻₂) in our cultures. Furthermore, 10 µl of each sample were seeded in 96 well plates containing 72 µl of solution A (0.1 mM of diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid, pH=9.6). Immediately after, 18 µl of solution B was added (contains 17.1 mM of N, N-dimethyl-p-phenylenediamine sulphate and 37 mM FeCl₃ in 6 M HCl). Sample preparations were made in triplicates per sulphate concentration and temperature. Subsequently, they were read using the Synergy HT microplate reader from BioTek at a wavelength of 668 nm after 30 min of adding solution B to each well. Results were normalized using absorbance of growth negative controls for each supplementation. Data analysis and significant differences were estimated using an ANOVA and pairwise *t*-test analysis at a 95% confidence level ($\alpha = 0.05$).

Results

D. psychrophila growth under various sulphate salts

As a general practice, bacterial growth in liquid medium can be identified by direct observation and further detection of biomass production (turbidity). In our experiments, samples were considered positive for growth (cellular proliferation/regardless of conditions) if there was a thin white precipitate formed at the bottom of the serum bottles containing *D. psychrophila* cells. Furthermore, if samples presented a blackish precipitate or black particles resuspended in the liquid, they were considered positive for sulphate reduction. As it is shown in Fig. 2 (A1 and A2), cultures supplemented with 0.35 wt% of MgSO₄ at 0 and 10°C showed evidence of bacterial growth (biomass) along with sulphites/sulphides sedimentation. However, cultures incubated at -5° C showed only minimal growth (A3). Furthermore, samples cultivated under 0.1 wt% of CaSO₄ at 0 and 10°C were positive for both biomass production and sulphites/sulphides sedimentation as shown in Fig. 2b (B1 and B2). Like MgSO₄ cultures, minimal growth was detected at -5° C (B3).

In Our analysis of turbidity (OD600 nm), we can see that in cultures supplemented with MgSO₄ or CaSO₄ most growth occurred at 0°C (regardless of sulphate concentration). Importantly, growth at -5° C was minimal at all concentrations (*t*-test, $\alpha = 0.05$) (see Fig. 3).

Furthermore, our live/dead cells analysis showed similar results to our analysis of optical density for MgSO₄ and CaSO₄ supplementation where the highest bacterial growth occurred at 0°C and the lowest occurred at -5° C (*t*-test, $\alpha = 0.05$) (Fig. 4). Interestingly, supplementations with MgSO₄ 10 and 18 wt% at -5° C showed minimal or no indication of active cell division (bacterial growth). Similarly, there was no indication of active growth in cultures supplemented with FeSO₄ at -5° C at any of the concentrations tested, and only minimal growth was registered at 10 and 0°C. In addition, Fe₂(SO₄)₃ supplementations showed increased growth at 10 wt% under all incubation temperatures, and at increasing concentrations in -5° C cultures. Finally, minimal growth was detected in Fe₂(SO₄)₃ supplementations (concentrations 40 and 48 wt%) at 10 and 0°C (Fig. 4).

Molecular analysis

In qPCR-MCA, the cycle quantitation (Ct) value represents the PCR cycle number at which initial fluorescence is detected. This value is inversely proportional to the number of copies of the targeted sequence (cDNA) which is reverse transcribed from the original sample (RNA). Therefore, in our experiments, lower Ct values indicate higher copy numbers of dsrAB transcripts. As all RNAs, in our controls and experiments at low temperatures, were subjected to a reverse transcription process using random primers, the specificity of detection of the dsrAB operon expression relies on the qPCR-MCA primers. Consequently, they were used to assess whether *D. psychrophila* can metabolize at low temperatures in the presence of various concentrations of sulphate compounds. As shown in Figs. 5 and 6, cultures containing MgSO₄, and CaSO₄ at any of the concentrations and temperatures tested showed high copy numbers of the dsrAB targeted sequence (*t*-test $\alpha = 0.05$). On the other hand, FeSO₄ supplementations showed abundant dsrAB copy numbers at any of the concentrations tested, except for the 10 wt% samples incubated at 10°C which showed a downregulation of the dsrAB expression when normalized (see Figs. 5 and 6).



Figure 2. D. psychrophila growth and sulphide formation – in media supplemented with (a) $MgSO_4$ 0.35 wt% incubated at (A1) 10°C, (A2) 0°C and (A3) –5°C; (b) $CaSO_4$, 0.1 wt % incubated at (B1) 10° C, (B2) 0°C and (B3) –5°C. The first serum bottle (from left to right) in each series is the growth negative control which shows no bacterial growth or sulphide formation. Blackish colour in each serum bottle denotes sulphide formation.

Furthermore, cultures supplemented with MgSO₄ 0.35 wt% showed similar copy numbers at -5° C (subfreezing) and 10°C (optimal growth temperature) while cultures at 0°C were downregulated (see Figs. 5 and 6). Moreover, supplementations with increasing concentrations of MgSO4 (10 and 18 wt%) did not show significant differences among the three temperatures tested (*t*-test, $\alpha = 0.05$) (see Figs. 5 and 6).

Interestingly, high copy numbers were detected at -5° C in cultures supplemented with CaSO₄ 0.1 wt% when compared with the temperature positive control at 10°C and the cultures at 0°C (Figs. 5 and 6). Like the MgSO₄ samples, all CaSO₄ supplementations at the three temperatures tested showed increased copy numbers (*t*-test, $\alpha = 0.05$).

In the samples supplemented with FeSO₄ at 10 wt% cells grown at 0 and -5° C had similar detection levels and they were both significantly different than the temperature control at 10°C. Like MgSO₄ at increasing concentrations, FeSO₄ at 14 wt% did not show differences in copy numbers among the temperatures tested. Given that these experiments are focused solely on the detection of dsrAB transcripts, it is important to note that high copy numbers of this product were present in cultures supplemented with both concentrations of FeSO₄ (*t*-test, $\alpha = 0.05$) (see Figs. 5 and 6).



Figure 3. OD measurements of D. psychrophila cultures subjected to $MgSO_4$ and $CaSO_4$ at three different temperatures. ($10^{\circ}C =$ temperature positive control, $0^{\circ}C =$ experimental 1, $-5^{\circ}C =$ experimental 2, C-= Growth negative controls). N = 216 measurements. 1 ml of each sample was subjected for OD analysis using a Perkin Elmer UV/VIS spectrometer Lambda Bio 20, adjusted to 600 nm, under anoxic conditions. There were 72 samples (24 per temperature) which were analysed in triplicate making 216 measurements.

Finally, all samples supplemented with $Fe_2(SO_4)_3$ did not show significant differences in copy numbers among the temperatures tested (*t*-test, $\alpha = 0.05$) (see Figs. 5 and 6).

Sulphate reduction (enzymatic activity)

In our analysis of sulphate reduction (MB method), we quantified the absorbance of sulphides in solution as a direct measurement of dsrAB enzymatic activity. Interestingly, we found that cultures supplemented with 0.35 wt% of MgSO₄ at -5° C showed the highest sulphate reduction activity, the temperature positive control at 10°C presented the opposite behaviour while the cultures at 0°C exhibited intermediate levels of sulphate reduction (Fig. 7) (*t*-test, $\alpha = 0.05$). Furthermore, cultures supplemented with MgSO₄ at increasing concentrations (10 and 18 wt%) showed significant differences in comparison with the growth negative controls. However, cultures at 10°C under MgSO₄ 18 wt% showed the highest sulphate reduction (*t*-test, $\alpha = 0.05$) (see Fig. 7). Additionally, cultures grown with CaSO₄ showed the highest rate of sulphate reduction at 0°C followed by the cultures at 10 and -5° C both of which had similar sulphate reduction rates (*t*-test, $\alpha = 0.05$). Finally, the data from our MB analysis pointed out the absence of sulphides in solution in any of the FeSO₄ supplementations for any of the temperatures tested (*t*-test, $\alpha = 0.05$) while Fe₂(SO₄)₃ supplementations showed only minimal sulphate reduction rates at 0 and -5° C (Fig. 7).

Discussion

D. psychrophila dsrAB copy numbers detection at low temperatures as a model of sulphate brines colonizer

D. psychrophila is an organism adapted to grow at low temperatures (growth range from 10° C down to -1.8° C) and a sulphate reducer. These two characteristics are paramount to conceive scenarios in



Figure 4. Percentage of live cells in cultures of D. psychrophila subjected to increasing concentrations of sulphate salts at three different temperatures. ($10^{\circ}C =$ temperature positive control, $0^{\circ}C =$ experimental 1, $-5^{\circ}C =$ experimental 2, C = Growth negative controls). Samples were assessed by live/ dead fluorescence analysis using SYTO 9 and propidium iodide. Samples were normalized using growth negative controls fluorescence. Specifically, SYTO 9 dyes all cells with intact or damaged membranes (viable and non-viable cells), while propidium iodide labels cells with damaged membranes (non-viable), by taking the difference in the bulk fluorescence, this technique allows us to estimate the percentage of cells that are viable in the sample. N = 594 measurements (198 cultures in triplicate).

which this microbe or similar microbes could potentially colonize other planets, icy body subsurfaces or subsurface oceans. In our experiments we exploited these parameters to an extent that allowed the detection of growth, transcriptional and metabolic activity, at the extremes of the microbes' survival window. Our findings suggest that D. psychrophila can synthesize dsrAB mRNAs optimally at lower temperatures than expected (down to -5° C) in cultures supplemented with 0.35 wt% of MgSO₄. As it can be seen in Figs. 5 and 6, cultures at -5° C showed no differences in dsrAB copy numbers when compared with the optimal temperature conditions at 10°C (temperature positive control). From a Microbiological standpoint, the ability of this microbe to transcribe at similar rates at -5and 10°C in pure culture is surprising since the cell proliferation was considerably lower in -5°C cultures (see Figs. 3 and 4). It is possible that the few cells present in these samples were halted in the second or third classification of Price and Sowers in which most energy generated is used exclusively for maintenance and survival rather than for growth (Price and Sowers, 2004). Interestingly, given the function of the DsrAB in the production of ATP, prioritizing maintenance and survival in these cells would end up creating an ATP generating loop in which energy initially available would be used to synthesize more DsrAB and then these enzymatic units would generate more energy in return (ATP synthesis from sulphate reduction). Surprisingly, cultures at 0°C which exhibited the highest growth showed the lowest dsrAB copy numbers. According to these results, a major portion of the cells from these cultures (subclonal population) would prioritize growth rather than energy generation which is evident from the estimations of cell division (OD measurements and percentage of live cells) and the low dsrAB copy numbers detected (compared with the other two cultures in Figs. 3–6). Congruently, cells at 10°C seem to be in an intermediate state in which cells prioritized both microbial growth (high cell division rate) and maintenance (high dsrAB copy numbers).



Figure 5. Detection of Expression of dsrAB operon in samples of D. psychrophila cultures grown in different types and concentrations of sulphate compounds classified by dsrAB copy numbers obtained from qPCR-MCA. (Temperature positive control at 10°C, experiment at 0°C and experiment at -5° C). Relative abundance was estimated from standard curves and copy numbers were calculated. The amplification efficiencies of samples and standard curves were between 99.6 and 99.8%. N = 594 measurements (198 samples were measured in triplicate).

Importantly, the survival capabilities of *D. psychrophila*, and its ability to fine tune its energy requirements and withstand subfreezing temperatures down to -5° C is remarkable since the only other microorganism reported to withstand this temperature in pure culture is the psychrotolerant *Trichococcus patagoniensis* PmagG1^T, which was isolated from penguin guano. To add more value to this finding, from the literature we found out that most bacteria reported to survive subfreezing temperatures to date have been reported *in situ* or in mixed environmental communities and not pure cultures (Pikuta *et al.*, 2006).

Interestingly, an analogous phenomenon was registered for the *D. psychrophila* cultures subjected to CaSO₄ at 0.1 wt%. According to our results, this microbe had high dsrAB copy numbers at -5° C followed by the temperature positive control at 10°C and the experiment at 0°C (See Figs. 5 and 6). Interestingly, like the MgSO₄ supplementations, the cell's growth at -5° C was downregulated, the 0°C was upregulated and the 10°C was in between those two levels (see Figs. 3 and 4). As it was mentioned previously, it is possible that *D. psychrophila* cells that were incubated at -5° C coupled most of their metabolic machinery to maintenance functions while portions of the cells incubated at 10 and 0°C redirected it to prioritize both growth and maintenance functions. These findings along with the ones for MgSO₄ emphasize the concept coined by Moyer and Morita (2007) in which they stated that psychrophilic microorganisms have adapted to cope with extreme cold environments and the result of that can be measured by the abundant production of mRNA transcripts and energy generating enzymes i.e.:



Figure 6. Log Fold Expression of dsrAB operon in samples of D. psychrophila cultures grown in different types and concentrations of sulphate compounds classified by Log Fold of dsrAB transcripts. (Temperature positive control at 10°C, experiment at 0°C and experiment at -5° C). CT values were plotted on standard curves and extrapolated to Log Fold dsrAB expression. The amplification efficiencies of samples and standard curves were between 99.6–99.8%. N = 594 measurements (198 samples were measured in triplicate).

DsrAB in the case of sulphate reducers. Furthermore, taking into consideration that this microorganism can undergo transcription (biosynthetic process) at lower temperatures than expected under optimal MgSO₄ concentration and with a different source of sulphate anions (CaSO₄), we can propose that *D. psychrophila* can potentially survive and metabolize rather than proliferate in environments similar to those present in the subsurface of other planets, icy bodies or subsurface oceans where brines or highly concentrated environments containing sulphate anions, and chaotropic cations (such as Mg²⁺ and Ca²⁺) as well as other environmental conditions conductive of life are present (Inniss, 1975; Morita, 1975; Knoblauch *et al.*, 1999; Rabus *et al.*, 2004; Moyer and Morita, 2007).

Additionally, experiments at increasing concentrations of MgSO₄ (10 and 18 wt%) showed no difference in dsrAB copy numbers when compared by temperature within groups, even though cultures at 0 and 10°C showed the highest cell density (see Figs. 3–6). Interestingly, if we analyse the OD/live/ dead results by MgSO4 concentration and temperature tested, we can observe that cellular proliferation decreased as MgSO₄ concentrations increased (Figs. 3 and 4). Equally important, cultures at -5° C showed dsrAB copy number levels that were indistinguishable from the other temperatures tested (Figs. 5 and 6). This behaviour is analogous to the behaviour presented in the experiments with MgSO₄ at 0.35 wt% and CaSO₄ at 0.1 wt% under subfreezing temperatures (-5° C) where cells prioritized maintenance (dsrAB copy numbers were comparable to the ones presented in the temperature



Figure 7. Sulphides in solution measurements using MB protocol of samples subjected to three different temperatures and different sulphate concentrations. High absorbances indicate increasing concentrations of sulphides in solution (H_2S , HS^- , S_2^-). Note that the highest absorbance was registered at $-5^{\circ}C$ under $MgSO_4$ 0.35 wt%, followed by the cultures at 0°C. Surprisingly, the highest absorbances were detected with $CaSO_4$ 0.1 wt% at 0°C. C- denotes absorbance from growth negative controls used for normalization. N = 594 measurements (198 samples were measured in triplicate).

positive control and the 0°C experiment) rather than active growth (no growth or minimal growth). However, it is crucial to understand that all supplementations presented high dsrAB copy numbers (see Figs. 5 and 6). Under these circumstances, we can observe that cells at 10 and 0°C behave in a way that prioritizes both maintenance (increased dsrAB copy numbers) and cellular growth (high cell density) as opposed to the -5°C cultures which coupled their metabolic machinery to mostly maintenance functions. It is imperative to notice that cell viability (growth) decreased with increasing concentrations of MgSO₄ (see Figs. 3 and 4). This finding suggests that this mineral possesses a lower and an upper concentration limit in which cell viability is possible. According to the latter, conditions above that upper limit could generate a disadvantageous environment for the cell to survive (osmotic stress). However, our results indicate that this sulphate compound, containing chaotropic magnesium cations, can still induce macromolecular flexibility which allows this microorganism to keep its transcriptional machinery functional at suboptimal temperatures.

As it was stated before, the cultures supplemented with $FeSO_4$ at 10 wt% and incubated at 0 and $-5^{\circ}C$ presented the highest dsrAB copy numbers in comparison with the positive temperature control at 10°C. However, our results from the live/dead analysis indicated only minimal growth or absence of active cell proliferation in these cultures. A possible explanation for this behaviour could be that cells that were used to inoculate the cultures coped with these conditions, at least temporarily, and synthesized dsrAB mRNAs

which were then detected in our qPCR-MCA analysis. The same behaviour was observed at increasing concentrations of $FeSO_4$ (14 wt%) in which there were no indications of active cellular growth (see Fig. 4), but the analysis of dsrAB expression revealed the presence of mRNAs (as indicated in Figs. 5 and 6).

This outcome suggests that $FeSO_4$ at any concentration does not offer an advantage for colonization (cell division) at subfreezing temperatures. However, based on the dsrAB copy numbers analysis, this microorganism can transcribe in the presence of ferrous sulphate at subfreezing temperatures which could offer survival (no growth/colonization) advantages. This is crucial because it suggests that *D. psychrophila* can remain metabolically active in environments containing ferrous sulphates at temperatures below 0°C such as those present on other planets, icy satellites and subsurface oceans. As mentioned before, it might be possible that the presence of chaotropic ions such as Fe²⁺ can increase the flexibility of molecules that intervene in basic cellular processes such as transcription, cell membrane maintenance and metabolism.

Finally, in the experiments with ferric sulphate, our results showed no significant differences in dsrAB copy numbers by temperature, within subgroups of $Fe_2(SO_4)_3$ concentrations (See Figs. 5 and 6). However, there were differences in the percentage of live cells present in the cultures subjected to 10 wt% in all the incubation temperatures tested, and at $-5^{\circ}C$ at increasing concentrations of $Fe_2(SO_4)_3$ which indicates minimal growth (See Fig. 4). It is possible that in these cultures, a few of the cells that were inoculated successfully divided ($Fe_2(SO_4)_3$ 10 wt% at all temperatures), but as the sulphate concentration increased the cells incubated in warmer temperatures resulted compromised. However, active growth at $-5^{\circ}C$ temperatures suggests that *D. psychrophila* could survive and colonize at least temporarily in environments such as planets or icy bodies with high concentrations of ferric sulphate, but eventually the microbe's metabolic machinery and survival might become impaired.

Comparison of dsrAB transcripts and sulphate reduction under various sulphate conditions

In general, an increase in dsrAB copy number detection should be consistent with an increased rate of sulphate reduction in any given bacterial culture. As more dsrAB transcripts are synthesized, more DsrAB enzymatic units should be available to catalyse the transfer of electrons in this anaerobic respiration process. This expected behaviour was observed in our cultures subjected to MgSO₄ 0.35 wt%, in which the samples grown at -5° C presented the highest sulphate reduction rates (enzymatic activity, see Fig. 7) and similar dsrAB copy numbers as the positive temperature control even though their growth was low in comparison with the cultures at 0 and 10°C (See Figs. 3–6). As it was mentioned above, it is possible that these cells prioritized maintenance rather than growth which is evident in the increased enzymatic activity detected in our MB analysis. Furthermore, this behaviour is consistent with the expectation that psychrophilic microbes have developed adaptations to enhance enzymatic capacity under extreme conditions of temperature. Moreover, cells incubated at 0°C, with the highest growth and lowest dsrAB copy numbers (among the three temperatures tested), had an intermediate level in sulphate reduction. A behaviour that is consistent with the concept of metabolic specialization in which a major subpopulation of bacterial cells in our cultures facilitated growth while a minor subpopulation prioritized maintenance (Dubnau and Losick, 2006; Davidson and Surette, 2008; Gefen and Balaban, 2009; Levine et al., 2012; Rosenthal et al., 2018). Accordingly, cultures at 10°C would facilitate both growth and maintenance. On the other hand, it is also important to take into consideration that our cultures at 0 and 10°C presented significant dsrAB detections (see Figs. 5 and 6), and that an increased sulphate reduction rate could be the result of the adaptability of the DsrAB enzyme to catalyse efficiently at subfreezing temperatures. Furthermore, at increasing concentrations of MgSO4 (10 and 18 wt%), which presented the highest growth at 0° C and lowest at -5° C (see Figs. 3 and 4), showed no significant sulphate reduction differences among the temperatures tested (see Fig. 7). However, these cultures showed significant differences with the growth negative controls which indicate presence of sulphides in solution. Therefore, we can deduce that cultures at 10 and 0°C prioritized

both growth and maintenance (sulphate reduction detected, high cell proliferation) while cultures at -5° C prioritized maintenance (sulphate reduction detected, low cell proliferation).

In the cultures supplemented with CaSO4 0.1 wt%, we observed that the highest sulphate reduction was registered at 0°C (see Fig. 7) which had the lowest dsrAB detection (See Figs. 5 and 6) and the highest growth (See Figs. 3 and 4). Strikingly, these cells prioritized both growth and maintenance even though their dsrAB copy numbers were the lowest. It is possible that functional cold-adapted DsrAB enzymatic units already synthesized in the inocula cells were efficient in generating energy through the sulphate reduction pathway. Cultures at 10 and -5° C showed similar sulphate reduction rates (See Fig. 7) which suggests that cells incubated at 10°C prioritized both growth and maintenance while the cells at -5° C tilted their metabolic balance towards maintenance (Compare Figs. 3–7). Interestingly, cells at -5° C with the highest dsrAB copy numbers presented low sulphate reduction (minimally active growth, active transcription, active sulphate reduction). This behaviour indicates that cells that survived from the inoculum, initially divided, and then redirected their metabolic machinery to maintenance functions. However, this attenuated sulphate reduction (in comparison with cultures at 0°C) suggests the effects of posttranscriptional/posttranslational modifications or protein folding in which DsrAB enzymatic units were rendered partially non-functional (Feller and Gerday, 2003).

Finally, in the cultures supplemented with FeSO₄ and Fe₂(SO₄)₃ sulphate reduction was absent or minimal which is not surprising since the transcriptional machinery of these cells was impaired even in the cultures in which evidence of growth was identified. However, another explanation for our MB results relies in the fact that sulphide ions (H₂S) in solution could readily react with ferrous or ferric ions (Fe²⁺ and Fe³⁺) producing FeS or Fe₂S₃ which could have impaired our capability to detect free H₂S.

In summary, the explanation for the behaviours shown in our results points to the fact that some *D. psychrophila* microbial cells were metabolically active at sub-zero temperatures i.e.: producing high numbers of dsrAB mRNAs and fully active DsrAB enzymes, while some of them were only microbial survivors which utilized sulphates at rates compatible with the metabolic specialization of their clonal subpopulations (Price and Sowers, 2004; Dubnau and Losick, 2006; Steven *et al.*, 2006; Davidson and Surette, 2008; Gefen and Balaban, 2009; Levine *et al.*, 2012; Rosenthal *et al.*, 2018). Putting this into our experiment's context, our data suggest that salts such as MgSO₄ and CaSO₄ induce an increase in metabolic activity rather than growth below 0°C and at warmer temperatures most clonal subpopulations suggested the effects of posttranscriptional or posttranslational modifications that rendered non-functional or partially functional enzymes.

Equally important, as it was mentioned before, in cold environments the activity of microorganisms is influenced by the presence of certain solutes. Among these, chaotropic/kosmotropic ions are of great importance due to their ability to disarrange or arrange cellular structures, expand the microbial growth/ survival window and lower the freezing point of water which increases the water availability for cellular activities. These factors are of enormous importance in Astrobiological studies. Moreover, as it was demonstrated by Chin et al. (2010), the microbial growth/survival window, specifically related to the temperature limit constraint, can be modified by the presence of environmental solutes. In that aspect their results validate our experiments with sulphate compounds and cellular survivability, in which MgSO₄ and CaSO₄ dissociate in water releasing SO_4^{2-} anions and Mg²⁺ and Ca²⁺ cations. As D. psychrophila is a sulphate reducer it uses the sulphate anions as terminal electron acceptors in the generation of metabolic energy while the cations act as chaotropic agents. This is crucial in low temperature environments considering that subfreezing conditions reduce the operational spectrum of macromolecular and cellular systems by increasing the stability of its components: increased hydrogen bonding, hydrophobic effect and electrostatic attraction at the protein, DNA, RNA and lipid bilayer levels (Chin et al., 2010; Ball and Hallsworth, 2015; Eardley et al., 2019; Timson, 2020). In our experiments this highly structured state of the cells macromolecular machinery was presumably affected by the action of Mg²⁺ and Ca²⁺ cations which reduced the rigidity of the cellular components and triggered higher dsrAB expression and sulphate reduction rates at temperatures down to -5°C (See Figs. 5-7). In

virtue of these observations our research team has proposed that lower temperatures increase molecular rigidity at the macromolecular level and as chaotropic ions disturb macromolecular structures at low temperatures, these substances can potentially fluidize the molecular rigidity of cellular macromolecules triggering stable microbial activity under suboptimal conditions (Zhang and Cremer, 2006; Chin et al., 2010; Ball and Hallsworth, 2015; Eardley et al., 2019; Timson, 2020). This further suggests that supplementation with chaotropic ions in our experiments did enhance cellular function, which is relevant in terms of Astrobiological interest, and relies in the fact that planets such as Mars and other icy bodies contain chaotropic agents in their regolith (Chin et al., 2010). Furthermore, colonization of icy bodies by extremophile bacterial species might be possible due to the fact that some terrestrial microorganisms such as D. psychrophila have developed adaptations at the lipids, enzymes and biopolymers level that allow them to cope with most extreme conditions (Deming, 2002; Feller and Gerday, 2003; Joseph et al., 2008). Equally important, as the Martian temperature is variable throughout the year and from hour to hour (average of -63° C, lowest of -143° C during winter and highest of 35°C), transient liquid water in the Martian polar caps and permafrost is possible (Pikuta and Hoover, 2003; Pikuta et al., 2007; Chevrier and Altheide, 2008). Then, it is only logical to think that microbial colonization or survival could be accomplished at least transiently in thin water films at the brine pockets that form the Martian rock/ice interface or the subsurface oceans in icy satellites from the Jovian and Saturn systems. Moreover, as it has been demonstrated in our experiments D. psychrophila is able to metabolize at temperatures within the parameters mentioned above. Also, it can resist relatively high concentrations of salts (sulphate compounds as those present in the Martian soil) and therefore low water availability. Consequently, our results indicate that colonization or survival by bacterial extremophiles is possible, at least under the conditions we have tested in our experiments. Unavoidably, the study of these extremophiles, especially cold-adapted microbes, is of Astrobiological interest due to the possibility to use them as survival models in other planets and icy bodies (Miletto et al., 2011; Moyer and Morita, 2007; Poli et al., 2017).

Conclusions

In our experiments, *D. psychrophila* was used as a model for adaptability, survivability and proliferation under Martian conditions of temperature (down to -5° C) and soil's mineral composition (increasing concentrations of sulphate salts). Our results at -5° C temperatures indicate that this microbe tends to emphasize metabolic activity rather than growth in the presence of MgSO₄ at 0.35 wt% which could be taken as evidence of the survival capabilities of this microbe under suboptimal conditions. Furthermore, the presence of different subclonal populations within individual cultures which prioritized differential growth and maintenance functions at 0 and 10°C highlights the concept of metabolic specialization which is crucial for microorganisms to evaluate their environment, adapt to stressful conditions and decide whether survival (maintenance) or colonization (active cell division and/or maintenance) in harsh environments, such as those present in Mars or icy satellites (Jovian and Saturn satellites), is beneficial or not (Price, 2000; Dubnau and Losick, 2006; Pikuta *et al.*, 2007; Davidson and Surette, 2008; Gefen and Balaban, 2009; Levine *et al.*, 2012; Rosenthal *et al.*, 2018).

Following this same concept of metabolic specialization in which subclonal populations within individual cultures showed evidence of metabolic adaptability, we would like to bring attention to the cultures supplemented with CaSO₄ 0.1 wt% at -5° C (prioritized maintenance), MgSO₄ at increasing concentrations at 0°C (prioritized both maintenance and growth) and -5° C (prioritized maintenance) which showed attenuated or absent sulphate reduction. The MB results in these cultures suggest the presence of posttranscriptional or posttranslational modifications which rendered non-functional DsrAB enzymatic units. This behaviour comes to no surprise given the fact that we have subjected these cells to conditions of temperatures that are 10 and 15°C below their optimal growth temperature conditions (Dubnau and Losick, 2006; Davidson and Surette, 2008; Gefen and Balaban, 2009; Levine *et al.*, 2012; Rosenthal *et al.*, 2018). Moreover, cultures of *D. psychrophila* at 10 and 14 wt% of FeSO₄ showed dsrAB copy numbers at all temperatures, but as it can be observed in our results, the culture conditions were not ideal for active cell proliferation and sulphate reduction. It is possible that the dsrAB transcription detected was associated to temporal survival of the cells from the inoculum which initially transcribed but were eventually inactivated.

Furthermore, cultures supplemented with 10 wt% and increasing concentrations of $Fe_2(SO_4)_3$ showed evidence of growth at all temperatures and $-5^{\circ}C$ respectively. However, no dsrAB copy numbers and only minimal sulphate reduction were detected. Like the FeSO₄ supplementations, it is possible that cells from the inoculum survived temporarily but were inactivated due to the harsh conditions at which these cultures were incubated.

We have proven the ability of *D. psychrophila* cells to activate the dsrAB operon at lower temperatures than expected due to the presence of chaotropic cations. We have suggested that these substances which are known to destabilize macromolecular structures might act as promoters of functionality at lower temperatures in which all macromolecular structures (DNA, RNA, proteins and membranes) tend to achieve a more rigid and inflexible configuration (up to a certain limit in which denaturation is irreversible). Interestingly, from the literature we know that the double helix of DNA adopts a highly stable and supercoiled configuration which can inhibit the transcriptional and translational machinery. In our experimental model, we have suggested that chaotropic agents (sulphate compounds) might act as 'destabilizers' of all the macromolecular structures mentioned above, improving transcription, cellular stability and metabolism at sub-zero temperatures. Currently, our research team is designing better approaches to address these phenomena (Feller and Gerday, 2003; Pikuta and Hoover, 2003; Pikuta *et al.*, 2007; Hoover and Pikuta, 2010).

Finally, the presence of transient liquid water in the Martian permafrost and polar caps is theoretically improved by the influence of different minerals and the soil's particles structures. Among those minerals sulphate compounds, as those used in this study, are abundant and they could potentially maintain water films (acting as an antifreeze/cryoprotectant) which can ultimately trigger microbial survival or colonization in such extreme environments. This is particularly important in our experiments because we have demonstrated that *D. psychrophila* cells can actively metabolize at subfreezing temperatures and in the presence of sulphate salts.

Acknowledgements. The authors of this article would like to acknowledge NASA's Planetary Protection Program financial support as a crucial step in the culmination of this piece of research (Grant # NNX15AP98G).

Competing interest. None.

References

- Ansari AH (2023) Detection of organic matter on Mars, results from various Mars missions, challenges, and future strategy: a review. *Frontiers in Astronomy and Space Sciences* **10**, 1075052.
- Arvidson RE, Poulet F, Bibring J-P, Wolff M, Gendrin A, Morris RV, Freeman JJ, Langevin Y, Mangold N and Bellucci G (2005) Spectral reflectance and morphologic correlations in eastern Terra Meridiani, Mars. *Science* 307, 1591–1594.
- Ball P and Hallsworth JE (2015) Water structure and chaotropicity: their uses, abuses and biological implications. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* 17, 8297–8305.
- Basic A, Blomqvist S, Carlén A and Dahlen G (2015) Estimation of bacterial hydrogen sulfide production in vitro. Journal of Oral Microbiology 7, 28166.
- Bethke C, Farrell B and Yeakel S (2018) GWB Reference Manual. Champaign, IL: Aqueous Solutions, LLC.
- Bibring J-P (2005) Mars surface diversity as revealed by the OMEGA/Mars express observations. Science 307, 1576–1581.
- Chevrier VF and Altheide TS (2008) Low temperature aqueous ferric sulfate solutions on the surface of Mars. *Geophysical Research Letters* **35**, 1–5.
- Chin JP, Megaw J, Magill CL, Nowotarski K, Williams JP, Bhaganna P, Linton M, Patterson MF, Underwood GJ and Mswaka AY (2010) Solutes determine the temperature windows for microbial survival and growth. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences 107, 7835–7840.
- Chinnery HE, Hagermann A, Kaufmann E and Lewis SR (2019) The penetration of solar radiation into water and carbon dioxide snow, with reference to Mars. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Planets* **124**, 337–348.

Clark BC and Van Hart D (1980) The salts of Mars. Icarus 45, 370-378.

- Cline JD (1969) Spectrophotometric determination of hydrogen sulfide in natural waters 1. *Limnology and Oceanography* 14, 454–458.
- Cockell CS, Bush T, Bryce C, Direito S, Fox-Powell M, Harrison JP, Lammer H, Landenmark H, Martin-Torres J, Nicholson N, Noack L, O'Malley-James J, Payler SJ, Rushby A, Samuels T, Schwendner P, Wadsworth J and Zorzano MP (2016) Habitability: a review. *Astrobiology* 16, 89–117.
- Davidson CJ and Surette MG (2008) Individuality in bacteria. Annual Review of Genetics 42, 253-268.
- Deming JW (2002) Psychrophiles and polar regions. Current Opinion in Microbiology 5, 301-309.
- Des Marais DJ, Nuth JA, Allamandola LJ, Boss AP, Farmer JD, Hoehler TM, Jakosky BM, Meadows VS, Pohorille A, Runnegar B and Spormann AM (2008) The NASA astrobiology roadmap. Astrobiology 8, 715–730.
- Dubnau D and Losick R (2006) Bistability in bacteria. Molecular Microbiology 61, 564-572.
- Eardley J, Dedi C, Dymond M, Hallsworth JE and Timson DJ (2019) Evidence for chaotropicity/kosmotropicity offset in a yeast growth model. *Biotechnology Letters* 41, 1309–1318.
- Fanale FP, Granahan JC, Greeley R, Pappalardo R, Head J, Shirley J, Carlson R, Hendrix A, Moore J, McCord TB and Belton M (2000) Tyre and Pwyll: Galileo orbital remote sensing of mineralogy versus morphology at two selected sites on Europa. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Planets* 105, 22647–22655.
- Feller G and Gerday C (2003) Psychrophilic enzymes: hot topics in cold adaptation. Nature Reviews Microbiology 1, 200.
- Gefen O and Balaban NQ (2009) The importance of being persistent: heterogeneity of bacterial populations under antibiotic stress. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews* **33**, 704–717.
- Gendrin A, Mangold N, Bibring J-P, Langevin Y, Gondet B, Poulet F, Bonello G, Quantin C, Mustard J, Arvidson R and LeMouélic S (2005) Sulfates in Martian layered terrains: the OMEGA/Mars express view. *Science* 307, 1587–1591.
- Hoover RB and Pikuta EV (2010) *Psychrophilic and Psychrotolerant Microbial Extremophiles in Polar Environments*. Huntsville, AL: NTRS-NASA Technical Reports.
- Inniss WE (1975) Interaction of temperature and psychrophilic microorganisms. Annual Review of Microbiology 29, 445-466.
- Johnston DT, Farquhar J, Wing BA, Kaufman AJ, Canfield DE and Habicht KS (2005) Multiple sulfur isotope fractionations in biological systems: a case study with sulfate reducers and sulfur disproportionators. *American Journal of Science* 305, 645– 660.
- Joseph B, Ramteke PW and Thomas G (2008) Cold active microbial lipases: some hot issues and recent developments. *Biotechnology Advances* 26, 457–470.
- Karkhoff-Schweizer RR, Huber DP and Voordouw G (1995) Conservation of the genes for dissimilatory sulfite reductase from Desulfovibrio vulgaris and Archaeoglobus fulgidus allows their detection by PCR. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 61, 290–296.
- Karr EA, Sattley WM, Rice MR, Jung DO, Madigan MT and Achenbach LA (2005) Diversity and distribution of sulfate-reducing bacteria in permanently frozen Lake Fryxell, McMurdo Dry Valleys, Antarctica. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 71, 6353–6359.
- Kjeldsen KU, Loy A, Jakobsen TF, Thomsen TR, Wagner M and Ingvorsen K (2007) Diversity of sulfate-reducing bacteria from an extreme hypersaline sediment, Great Salt Lake (Utah). FEMS Microbiology Ecology 60, 287–298.
- Knoblauch C, Sahm K and Jørgensen BB (1999) Psychrophilic sulfate-reducing bacteria isolated from permanently cold Arctic marine sediments: description of *Desulfofrigus oceanense* gen. nov., sp. nov., *Desulfofrigus fragile* sp. nov., *Desulfofaba* gelida gen. nov., sp. nov., *Desulfotalea psychrophila* gen. nov., sp. nov. and *Desulfotalea arctica* sp. nov. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology* 49, 1631–1643.
- Kral TA, Altheide TS, Lueders AE and Schuerger AC (2011) Low pressure and desiccation effects on methanogens: implications for life on Mars. *Planetary and Space Science* 59, 264–270.
- Lamarche-Gagnon G, Comery R, Greer CW and Whyte LG (2015) Evidence of *in situ* microbial activity and sulphidogenesis in perennially sub-0 °C and hypersaline sediments of a high Arctic permafrost spring. *Extremophiles* **19**, 1–15.
- Langevin Y, Poulet F, Bibring J-P and Gondet B (2005) Sulfates in the north polar region of Mars detected by OMEGA/Mars express. Science 307, 1584–1586.
- Laue H, Friedrich M, Ruff J and Cook AM (2001) Dissimilatory sulfite reductase (desulfoviridin) of the taurine-degrading, non-sulfate-reducing bacterium *Bilophila wadsworthia* RZATAU contains a fused DsrB-DsrD subunit. *Journal of Bacteriology* 183, 1727–1733.
- Leloup J, Loy A, Knab NJ, Borowski C, Wagner M and Jørgensen BB (2007) Diversity and abundance of sulfate-reducing microorganisms in the sulfate and methane zones of a marine sediment, Black Sea. *Environmental Microbiology* 9, 131–142.
- Levine JH, Fontes ME, Dworkin J and Elowitz MB (2012) Pulsed feedback defers cellular differentiation. *PLoS Biology* 10, e1001252.
- Maccario L, Vogel TM and Larose C (2014) Potential drivers of microbial community structure and function in Arctic spring snow. Frontiers in Microbiology 5, 413.
- McCord TB, Hansen GB and Hibbitts CA (2001) Hydrated salt minerals on Ganymede's surface: evidence of an ocean below. *Science* 292, 1523–1525.
- McGlynn IO, Fedo CM and McSween HY (2012) Soil mineralogy at the Mars exploration rover landing sites: an assessment of the competing roles of physical sorting and chemical weathering: MINERALOGY AND ALTERATION OF MER SOILS. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Planets* 117, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1029/2011JE003861.

- Miletto M, Williams KH, N'guessan AL and Lovley DR (2011) Molecular analysis of the metabolic rates of discrete subsurface populations of sulfate reducers. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 77, 6502–6509.
- Molyneux PM, Nichols JD, Becker TM, Raut U and Retherford KD (2020) Ganymede's far-ultraviolet reflectance: constraining impurities in the surface ice. Journal of Geophysical Research: Planets 125, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1029/2020JE006476.
- Moores JE and Schuerger AC (2012) UV degradation of accreted organics on Mars: IDP longevity, surface reservoir of organics, and relevance to the detection of methane in the atmosphere: ORGANIC IDP SURFACE CARBON ON MARS. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Planets* 117, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1029/2012JE004060.

Morita RY (1975) Psychrophilic bacteria. Bacteriological Reviews 39, 144.

- Moyer CL and Morita RY (2007) Psychrophiles and psychrotrophs. Encyclopedia of Life Sciences 1, 1–6. https://doi.org/10. 1002/9780470015902.a0000402.pub2.
- Muller AL, Kjeldsen KU, Rattei T, Pester M and Loy A (2015) Phylogenetic and environmental diversity of DsrAB-type dissimilatory (bi) sulfite reductases. *The ISME Journal* 9, 1152–1165.
- Mykytczuk NC, Foote SJ, Omelon CR, Southam G, Greer CW and Whyte LG (2013) Bacterial growth at -15 C; molecular insights from the permafrost bacterium *Planococcus halocryophilus* Or1. *The ISME Journal* 7, 1211.
- Pan Y, Yong W and Secco RA (2021) Electrical conductivity of aqueous NaCl at high pressure and low temperature: application to deep subsurface oceans of icy moons. *Geophysical Research Letters* 48, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1029/2021GL094020.
- Panikov NS, Flanagan PW, Oechel WC, Mastepanov MA and Chirstensen TR (2006) Microbial activity in soils frozen to below -39 °C. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 38, 785–794. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2005.07.004.
- Pappalardo RT (2010) Seeking Europa's ocean. Proceedings of the International Astronomical Union 6, 101-114.
- Pavlov AA, Pavlov AK, Ostryakov VM, Vasilyev GI, Mahaffy P and Steele A (2014) Alteration of the carbon and nitrogen isotopic composition in the Martian surface rocks due to cosmic ray exposure. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Planets* 119, 1390–1402.
- Piette F, Struvay C and Feller G (2011) The protein folding challenge in psychrophiles: facts and current issues. *Environmental Microbiology* 13, 1924–1933.
- Pikuta EV and Hoover RB (2003) Psychrophiles and astrobiology: microbial life of frozen worlds. Instruments, Methods, and Missions for Astrobiology VI 4939, 103–116.
- Pikuta EV, Hoover RB, Bej AK, Marsic D, Whitman WB, Krader PE and Tang J (2006) *Trichococcus patagoniensis* sp. Nov., a facultative anaerobe that grows at -5°C, isolated from penguin guano in Chilean Patagonia. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology* 56, 2055–2062.
- Pikuta EV, Hoover RB and Tang J (2007) Microbial extremophiles at the limits of life. *Critical Reviews in Microbiology* **33**, 183–209.
- Pizzarello S (2006) The chemistry of life's origin: a carbonaceous meteorite perspective. Accounts of Chemical Research **39**, 231–237.
- Poch O, Kaci S, Stalport F, Szopa C and Coll P (2014) Laboratory insights into the chemical and kinetic evolution of several organic molecules under simulated Mars surface UV radiation conditions. *Icarus* 242, 50–63.
- Poli A, Finore I, Romano I, Gioiello A, Lama L and Nicolaus B (2017) Microbial diversity in extreme marine habitats and their biomolecules. *Microorganisms* 5, 25.
- Price PB (2000) A habitat for psychrophiles in deep Antarctic ice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 97, 1247– 1251.
- Price PB and Sowers T (2004) Temperature dependence of metabolic rates for microbial growth, maintenance, and survival. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **101**, 4631–4636.
- Prockter LM, Lopes RMC, Giese B, Jaumann R, Lorenz RD, Pappalardo RT, Patterson GW, Thomas PC, Turtle EP and Wagner RJ (2010) Characteristics of icy surfaces. *Space Science Reviews* 153, 63–111.
- Rabus R, Ruepp A, Frickey T, Rattei T, Fartmann B, Stark M, Bauer M, Zibat A, Lombardot T, Becker I, Amann J, Gellner K, Teeling H, Leuschner WD, Glockner F-O, Lupas AN, Amann R and Klenk H-P (2004) The genome of *Desulfotalea psychrophila*, a sulfate-reducing bacterium from permanently cold Arctic sediments. *Environmental Microbiology* 6, 887–902.
- Rosenthal AZ, Qi Y, Hormoz S, Park J, Li SH-J and Elowitz MB (2018) Metabolic interactions between dynamic bacterial subpopulations. *ELife* 7, e33099.
- Rüffel V, Maar M, Dammbrück MN, Hauröder B, Neu TR and Meier J (2018) Thermodesulfobium sp. Strain 3baa, an acidophilic sulfate reducing bacterium forming biofilms triggered by mineral precipitation. *Environmental Microbiology* 20, 3717–3731.
- Satyanarayana T, Raghukumar C and Shivaji S (2005) Extremophilic microbes: diversity and perspectives. *Current Science* **89**, 78–90.
- Scheller EL, Razzell Hollis J, Cardarelli EL, Steele A, Beegle LW, Bhartia R, Conrad P, Uckert K, Sharma S, Ehlmann BL, Abbey WJ, Asher SA, Benison KC, Berger EL, Beyssac O, Bleefeld BL, Bosak T, Brown AJ, Burton ASBykov SV, Cloutis E, Fairén AG, DeFlores L, Farley KA, Fey DM, Fornaro T, Cox AC, Fries M, Hickman-Lewis K, Hug WF, Huggett JE, Imbeah S, Jakubek RS, Kah LC, Kelemen P, Kennedy MR, Kizovski T, Lee C, Liu Y, Mandon L, McCubbin FM, Moore KR, Nixon BE, Nuñez JI, Rodriguez Sanchez-Vahamonde C, Roppel RD, Schulte M, Sephton MA, Sharma SK, Siljestrom S, Shkolyar S, Shuster DL, Simon JI, Smith RJ, Stack KM, Steadman K, Weiss BP, Werynski A, Williams AJ, Wiens RC, Williford KH, Winchell K, Wogsland B, Yanchilina A, Yingling R and Zorzano

M-P (2022) Aqueous alteration processes in Jezero crater, Mars – implications for organic geochemistry. *Science* **378**, 1105–1110.

- Schmidt C and Manning CE (2017) Pressure-induced ion pairing in MgSO4 solutions: implications for the oceans of icy worlds. Geochemical Perspectives Letters 3, 66–74. https://doi.org/10.7185/geochemlet.1707.
- Simakov M (2001) The Possible Sites for Exobiological Activity on Titan. Switzerland AG: European Space Agency (NASA Astrophysics Data System). Available at https://articles.adsabs.harvard.edu/pdf/2001ESASP.496..211S.
- Stalport F, Rouquette L, Poch O, Dequaire T, Chaouche-Mechidal N, Payart S, Szopa C, Coll P, Chaput D, Jaber M, Raulin F and Cottin H (2019) The photochemistry on space station (PSS) experiment: organic matter under Mars-like surface UV radiation conditions in low earth orbit. *Astrobiology* 19, 1037–1052.
- Steven B, Leveille R, Pollard WH and Whyte LG (2006) Microbial ecology and biodiversity in permafrost. *Extremophiles* **10**, 259–267.
- Teske A, Wawer C, Muyzer G and Ramsing NB (1996) Distribution of sulfate-reducing bacteria in a stratified fjord (Mariager Fjord, Denmark) as evaluated by most-probable-number counts and denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis of PCR-amplified ribosomal DNA fragments. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 62, 1405–1415.
- Thorup C, Schramm A, Findlay AJ, Finster KW and Schreiber L (2017) Disguised as a sulfate reducer: growth of the deltaproteobacterium *Desulfurivibrio alkaliphilus* by sulfide oxidation with nitrate. *MBio* 8, e00671-17.
- Timson DJ (2020) The roles and applications of chaotropes and kosmotropes in industrial fermentation processes. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology* **36**, 89.
- Vance SD, Panning MP, Stähler S, Cammarano F, Bills BG, Tobie G, Kamata S, Kedar S, Sotin C, Pike WT, Lorenz R, Huang H-H, Jackson JM and Banerdt B (2018) Geophysical investigations of habitability in ice-covered ocean worlds: GEOPHYSICAL HABITABILITY. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Planets* 123, 180–205.
- Yadav AN, Verma P, Kumar V, Sachan SG and Saxena AK (2017) Extreme cold environments: a suitable niche for selection of novel psychrotrophic microbes for biotechnological applications. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 2, 1–4.
- Zhang Y and Cremer P (2006) Interactions between macromolecules and ions: the Hofmeister series. *Current Opinion in Chemical Biology* **10**, 658–663.
- Zolotov MY and Shock EL (2001) Composition and stability of salts on the surface of Europa and their oceanic origin. Journal of Geophysical Research: Planets 106, 32815–32827.